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INTRODUCTION

Respondents Horter Investment Management, LLC (“HIM”) and Drew K. Horter
(“Horter”) concede that they failed reasonably to supervise, within the meaning of Section
203(e)(6) and (f) of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 (“Advisers Act”), Kimm Hannan
(“Hannan”), a former HIM Investment Adviser Representative (“IAR”) who fraudulently
misappropriated $728,001 of HIM client assets in violation of Section 206(1) and (2) of the
Advisers Act and is now serving a 20-year term of imprisonment. (See Order Making Findings
and Imposing a Cease-and-Desist Order and Ordering Continuation of Proceedings, Rel. No. [A-
6182, 2022 WL 16709988 (Nov. 3, 2022) (hereinafter “Consent Order”).) Specifically, in failing
to supervise Hannan, HIM and Horter were aware that Hannan was engaged in outside business
activities through his entities Hannan Properties, LLC and HR Resources, LLC, yet HIM
processed and executed 17 requests by Hannan to distribute nearly three-quarters of a million
dollars of HIM clients’ funds to Hannan Properties, thereby facilitating Hannan’s fraudulent
solicitation and receipt of HIM client funds. (Consent Order 49 18-21.) Respondent HIM also
concedes it willfully violated Section 206(4) of the Advisers Act, and Rule 206(4)-7 thereunder,
by failing to adopt and implement policies and procedures reasonably designed to prevent
violations, by HIM and its supervised persons, of the Advisers Act and the Commission’s rules.
(Id. 99 85-86.)

In light of these serious, repeated violations and to protect the public, the Division of
Enforcement (“Division”) requests that the Hearing Officer impose civil penalties on HIM and
Horter, place limitations on Horter’s activities, and censure HIM pursuant to Section 203 of the
Advisers Act. Specifically, the Division requests that the Hearing Officer order HIM and Horter

to pay civil penalties of $250,000 and $125,000, respectively, bar Horter from association in a



supervisory capacity with any broker, dealer, investment adviser, municipal securities dealer,
municipal advisor, transfer agent, or nationally recognized statistical rating organization with a
right to reapply after a period of two years, and censure HIM.

Respondents’ violations are undisputed and egregious. HIM and Horter knew, or should
have known, that Hannan was soliciting HIM client funds for his outside business activities.
Nevertheless, neither HIM nor Horter reasonably supervised Hannan’s activities. Indeed, HIM
processed 17 client distributions to Hannan Properties, which Hannan ultimately used to gamble,
pay personal expenses, and repay other investors in violation of the Advisers Act. In addition,
HIM and Horter neglected their critical duties as a registered investment adviser and supervisor,
respectively, to reasonably supervise Hannan and other IARs and prevent them from violating
the Advisers Act. Finally, HIM willfully failed to adopt and implement policies and procedures
concerning third-party distributions and other matters reasonably designed to prevent Hannan’s
repeated violations of the Advisers Act. For these and the other reasons set forth below, the
requested civil penalties, bar, and censure are in the public interest.

PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

On September 8, 2021, the United States Securities and Exchange Commission
(“Commission”) filed an Order Instituting Proceedings (“OIP”) against HIM and Horter. The
OIP alleged that HIM, a registered investment adviser, and Horter, HIM’s founder and CEO,
failed reasonably to supervise Hannan, a HIM IAR who, from November 2015 to March 2107,
misappropriated $728,001 from HIM clients purportedly for his outside business activities
(“OBA”). As alleged in the OIP, HIM failed to establish supervisory policies and procedures,
failed to follow those policies and procedures it had in place, and failed reasonably to follow up

on red flags. Similarly, Horter, who had overall supervisory responsibility for HIM, failed to



follow specific policies and procedures, failed reasonably to supervise Hannan, made open-
ended delegations of supervisory responsibility without following up, and failed reasonably to
follow up on red flags. (OIP 99 1-3.)

On September 22, 2022, HIM and Horter submitted an offer of settlement, which the
Commission determined to accept. (Consent Order at 1). In the Consent Order, the Commission
required HIM to cease and desist from committing or causing any violation and any future
violation of Section 206(4) of the Advisers Act and Rule 206(4)-7 promulgated thereunder. (/d.
at 13). The Consent Order also specified that HIM and Horter agreed to continued proceedings to
determine (a) what, if any, civil penalties are appropriate and in the public interest under Section
203(i) of the Advisers Act, and (b) what, if any, other remedial actions are appropriate and in the
public interest under Section 203(e) and (f) of the Advisers Act, and that, in connection with
those proceedings, the findings of the Consent Order “shall be accepted and deemed true by the
hearing officer.” (/d.)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. HIM Hires Hannan as an IAR.

HIM is an investment adviser that has been registered with the Commission since January
2007. Horter is HIM’s founder and, at all times relevant to the conduct at issue, was HIM’s
President, Chief Executive Officer, and Managing Member. (Consent Order 9 5-6.) Hannan was
an IAR with HIM from December 1, 2014 through March 24, 2017, and during the time he was
associated with HIM, Hannan worked from a remote office location. (/d. q 7.)

Immediately prior to joining HIM, Hannan voluntarily terminated his employment with
another investment adviser on October 22, 2014, following an internal review. A Form U5 filed
on November 14, 2014 confirmed the basis for Hannan’s termination was his “use of marketing
materials not approved by the firm and that checks were made payable to his DBA, rather than
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his RIA as required.” (/d. § 13.) On November 21, 2014, Hannan signed an IAR agreement with
HIM and, on December 1, 2014, Hannan registered with HIM. (/d. 9] 14.)

The day after Hannan registered with HIM, the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority
(“FINRA”) sent Hannan a letter informing him it was initiating an inquiry regarding his conduct
at his prior investment adviser. A week later, Hannan forwarded the FINRA letter to a HIM
compliance officer (the “Compliance Officer”). (Consent Order 4 15.) After reviewing the
FINRA letter, the Compliance Officer recommended to Horter that he fire Hannan for effectively
failing HIM’s due diligence process. Horter rejected the Compliance Officer’s recommendation
and instructed the Compliance Officer to ask Hannan for an explanation of the conduct FINRA
was investigating, which he did. Horter subsequently accepted Hannan’s self-serving explanation
without question or any further investigation of Hannan, FINRA, or anyone else. As a result,
HIM and Horter failed reasonable to investigate the conduct identified by FINRA or to follow up
on the FINRA inquiry. (/d.  16.)

HIM designated Hannan a high-risk adviser, but subjected him to no specific restrictions,
requirements, or heightened supervision as a result of the designation. Hannan continued as an
IAR with HIM until his employment was terminated on March 24, 2017. (Id. § 17.)

IL. Horter’s Supervisory Responsibilities.

A. Horter was a Supervisor for HIM
Generally and for Hannan Specifically.

Horter had ultimate supervisory responsibility for HIM’s policies and procedures and
overall supervisory responsibility for HIM and its IARs generally and Hannan specifically.
(Consent Order 49 10, 14.) Horter also had final authority to hire, fire, or discipline HIM’s IARs,

including Hannan. (/d. 9 10.)



B. Horter Unreasonably Delegated Supervisory Responsibility.

Horter purported to delegate supervisory responsibilities, but those delegations were ad
hoc with no documentation evidencing the delegations or defining their nature and scope. Horter
failed to follow up on or oversee his delegations of supervisory responsibility. (Consent Order
9 11.) For example, Horter delegated responsibility to the Compliance Officer for the required
annual review of HIM’s policies and procedures in 2016 and 2017 and to both a consulting firm
and the Compliance Officer for the 2015 annual review, but did nothing to oversee those
delegations or supervise the reviews. (/d. q 12.)

Horter delegated supervisory responsibility for individual HIM policies and procedures in
a similar manner; Horter did not confirm whether his delegatee was following HIM’s specific
policies and procedures and was not aware of any problems or issues unless the delegatee raised
them. (/d. 4 80-85.) Horter could not recall anything specifically he did to oversee his delegation
of supervisory responsibility to HIM’s compliance department to ensure it was adequately
supervising Hannan, and Horter did not recall working with compliance regarding Hannan. (/d.
9 84.) According David E. Paulukaitis, the Division’s expert witness, Horter’s failure to take any
steps to satisfy himself that Hannan’s supervision was being conducted in an adequate and
reasonable manner was unreasonable. (Ex. A, Expert Report of David E. Paulukaitis (“Division
Expert Report™), at 25 (June 17, 2022).)

III. Hannan Solicited and Received $728,001 from HIM Clients for his Outside Business
Activities.

Hannan Properties, LLC (“Hannan Properties”) was an outside business activity (“OBA”)
of Hannan’s known to Horter and HIM as a result of their onboarding of Hannan. (Consent
Order 99 18-19.) As a result of Hannan’s repeated submissions of third-party distribution

requests to HIM for distributions from his clients to Hannan Properties, HIM was aware Hannan



continued to operate Hannan Properties during his tenure at HIM. (/d. § 19.) As early as fall
2016, Horter and HIM were aware of HR Resources, LLC (“HR Resources”), another OBA of
Hannan’s for which he solicited and received funds from HIM clients. (/d.)

Between November 19, 2015 and March 8, 2017, Hannan solicited and received
distributions to Hannan Properties totaling $728,001 from the accounts of several HIM clients.
(1d. 4 20.) To receive those funds, Hannan submitted to HIM 17 requests to distribute HIM client
funds to Hannan Properties, which the firm processed and executed. Each of those third-party
distribution requests clearly listed Hannan Properties as the recipient of the transferred client

funds. (/d. § 21.) For example:

NON-RETIREMENT ACCOUNT
DISTRIBUTION REQUEST TRUST % COMPANY
Institutional Advisor Services CF AMERICA
—
Number T Accourt Type TCA Account Number
; |LLC
- |
|zt Properden. LLG ) By electronic transfer. Note: Allow 1-2 business days for delivery
; = : — . Note: : ys
st Digits of Socal Securty or Tax Identification Number from the processed date for ACH, and the same or next business day for
wires
SECTION 2 Distribution Amount Selectone: [ By ACH Select one: B Checking account
- By Wire 0 Savings account
Select 2 full or partial distrdution [ Veided check proviced in lleu of bank infermation
[ Full distribution and close nt, sefect one:
0] Ucuidste L] I ¥ind my accou o Bark Name
Key Bank
8 Partial distribution, select 2l that appiy: Dc) Number
[ Partial cash, kst amount: |
Gross Cash Amount | Name on Bank Accoum |

25000 | Hannan Properties, LLC

| r
[ Partial securities in-kind, list securities: &

(See Decl. Ex. 2, Feb. 27, 2017 Heinzman Third-Party Distribution, attached to Declaration of

Nicholas Magina filed contemporaneously herewith.) As a result, HIM knew, or should have
known, Hannan was soliciting client funds for his OBA. (Consent Order ] 21, 59.)
Hannan began emailing Horter about HR Resources in October 2016 and solicited Horter

to invest in HR Resources beginning in November 2016, seeking as much as $250,000. During



and after that time, there were numerous communications about the business among Hannan,
Horter, and the Compliance Officer, including exchanges regarding HR Resources’ business
model, business plan, and projections. Hannan even offered Horter an ownership interest in HR
Resources, proposing Horter invest between $125,000 and $146,000 in return for “10%
permanent equity in HR Resources[.]” (/d. § 22.) In mid-December 2016, Hannan emailed
Horter and explained, “I believe the money issue got in the way to beginning this relationship
with Horter [Investment]. I have taken it off the table and will find it elsewhere.” (/d. 9 23.)
Despite Hannan’s warning that he would find money for HR Resources elsewhere, neither HIM
nor Horter ever investigated or even inquired whether Hannan was soliciting HIM clients to
invest in HR Resources. (/d. § 24.)

On or about March 17, 2017, HIM initiated an internal investigation after staff
responsible for processing third-party distributions alerted HIM’s Compliance Officer that she
was having a problem processing a distribution from a HIM client to one of Hannan’s OBAs.
That investigation concluded Hannan violated investment related statutes, regulations, rules, or
industry codes of conduct. HIM terminated Hannan’s employment on March 24, 2017. (/d.

99 25-26.)

IV.  Hannan’s Solicitation and Receipt of HIM Client Funds Constitutes Securities
Fraud.

As an IAR, Hannan owed a fiduciary duty and duty of undivided loyalty to his HIM
clients, including a duty to disclose material information to his clients, and to make his
statements concerning proposed investment opportunities true and not misleading. Further,
Hannan had a duty not to engage in activity that conflicted with his clients’ interest without their

informed consent. (Consent Order 9 27.)



Hannan made materially false and/or misleading statements and omissions to his HIM
clients to persuade them to transfer funds from their HIM accounts to Hannan Properties, an
entity under his control and one of his OBAs. These materially false and/or misleading
statements and omissions included:

o misrepresenting the state of the businesses for which he was soliciting their funds,
including misrepresenting those businesses were doing well;

o failing to disclose those businesses had generated little or no profit, could not
make payroll, and were encumbered by debt;

o failing to disclose that he used funds provided by clients for a variety of expenses
unrelated to the businesses, including: gambling; alimony and support payments
for his ex-wife; personal credit card bills; rent on the building for his investment
advisory services business; his utilities; and his car payment and insurance; and

o failing to disclose their funds were used, in part, to pay prior investors rather than
for the businesses themselves.

(Id. 9 28.)

At the time Hannan made these materially false and misleading statements and
omissions, he knew, or was reckless or negligent in not knowing, that these statements were
materially false and omitted to state material facts necessary to make these statements not
misleading under the circumstances. Further, Hannan knew, or was reckless or negligent in not
knowing of these disclosure failures to his HIM clients. (/d. 9 29.) Further, Hannan’s materially
false and/or misleading statements to investors were important in their decision whether to invest
and that had Hannan disclosed those true uses of funds to his HIM clients, they would not have
provided funds to him. Finally, Hannan used means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce,
including email, mail, and interstate wire transfers, to defraud his HIM clients. (/d. 9 30-31.)

In January 2019, following a jury trial, Hannan was convicted of violating various

provisions of the Ohio state securities laws arising from his solicitation and receipt of funds from



clients for his OBAs by means of material misrepresentations and omissions. Hannan is currently
serving a 20-year prison term at the Lorain Correctional Institution in Grafton, Ohio. (/d. § 32.)
Among the statutes Hannan was convicted of violating was Ohio Revised Code
§1707.44(M)(1)(a)-(b), which provides:

No investment adviser or investment adviser representative shall do

any of the following: (a) Employ any device, scheme, or artifice to

defraud any person; (b) Engage in any act, practice, or course of

business that operates or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon any

person . . .
(Id.) To convict Hannan for violating § 1707.44(M)(1)(a)-(b), the jury found that Hannan acted
knowingly. (/d. 9 33.) Section 1707.44(M)(1)(a)-(b) is Ohio’s analog to Section 206 of the
Advisers Act, which similarly provides:

It shall be unlawful for any investment adviser by use of the mails

or any means or instrumentality of interstate commerce, directly or

indirectly—(1) to employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud

any client or (2) to engage in any transaction, practice, or course of

business which operates as a fraud or deceit upon any client or

prospective client . . .
(Id. g 34.) Hannan’s knowing conduct that was found to have violated §1707.44(M)(1)(a)-(b)
constitutes uncharged violations of Section 206(1) and (2) of the Advisers Act. (Id. 9 35.)

Hannan’s uncharged Advisers Act violations were made possible by HIM’s and Horter’s

failures reasonably to supervise Hannan and their failure to safeguard retail investors’ assets
against misappropriation. (/d. § 36.) Specifically, HIM and Horter failed reasonably to supervise
Hannan by failing reasonably to: (a) establish supervisory policies and procedures; (b)

implement existing policies and procedures; (c) follow up on red flags; and (d) delegate

supervisory authority. (/d. 9 37.)



V. Horter and HIM Failed Reasonably to Establish Supervisory Policies and
Procedures.

Horter and HIM failed to adopt written policies and procedures reasonably designed to
prevent violations of the Advisers Act in the areas of high-risk advisers heightened supervision,
field visits and branch audits of remote IARs, and third-party distribution requests. (Consent
Order 9 38, 50.)

A. High-Risk Advisers and Heightened Supervision.

HIM designated a significant number of IARs working for HIM as high or moderate risk.
HIM designated Hannan a high-risk adviser. (/d. 99 17, 39.) In March 2015, a few months after
HIM hired Hannan, a consultant warned HIM that “higher risk IAR’s (those with previous
disclosures and without IAR experience) require a program of closer supervision, particularly
during their first years with [HIM]. Currently, no procedures call for such a review.” In
September 2016, still during Hannan’s tenure with, HIM’s Compliance Officer similarly warned
of the need for HIM to “get our internal heightened supervision program developed.” (/d. q 40.)

Despite those warnings, Horter and HIM had no policies or procedures for heightened
supervision of high-risk advisers like Hannan until March 20, 2017, days before HIM terminated
Hannan’s employment. HIM and Horter did not adopt a heightened supervision agreement until
November 2017, well after Hannan’s employment had been terminated. (/d. 4 41.) Although
HIM designated Hannan a high-risk adviser, it subjected Hannan to no specific restrictions,
requirements, or heightened supervision as a result of his high-risk designation. (/d. §42.) The
failure of HIM and Horter to establish policies and procedures for the supervision of higher risk

IARs such as Hannan was unreasonable. (Ex. A, Division Expert Report at 25.)
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B. Field Visits and Branch Audits of Remote IARSs.

At all times relevant to the conduct at issue, 95% or more of HIM’s IARs, including
Hannan, worked from remote or field offices. Commission Examination staff warned HIM in a
December 2014 deficiency letter that it had failed to conduct supervisory inspections of its IARs’
branch offices. In March 2015, an outside consultant similarly recommended to HIM that it
“develop a more detailed procedure for supervising the activities of its remote IARs.” Despite
these warnings, HIM did not adopt or implement any policies or procedures regarding field visits
or branch audits of either its high-risk IARs until March 2017 or its IARs generally until
November 2017. HIM did not begin conducting field visits or branch audits until August 2017
and never conducted a field visit or branch audit of Hannan or his office. (Consent Order 99 43-
45.) The failure of HIM and Horter to establish policies and procedures for the examination of
remote IAR offices such as Hannan’s was unreasonable. (Ex. A, Division Expert Report at 25.)

C. Third-Party Distribution Requests.

Prior to June 2016, HIM had no written policies or procedures regarding distributions
from its clients to third parties. In 2016, HIM and Horter specifically considered implementing
procedures that would have increased scrutiny of third-party distributions or stopped such
distributions altogether, but decided against doing so because they would “get too much backlash
from advisers . . . .” (Consent Order 99 46-47.)

Following an incident in which HIM mistakenly distributed more than $300,000 from a
client’s account to a third-party in response to a fraudulent email, in June 2016 HIM instituted
practices requiring that third-party distributions be (1) verbally confirmed with the client by HIM
and (2) documented in a log. However, HIM established no further procedures and no written

instructions for either its third-party distribution procedures or the third-party-distribution log.
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The new practices were miscommunicated or misinterpreted, not consistently followed, and not
monitored by HIM’s compliance department or its management, including Horter. (/d. 99 48-49.)
HIM did not adopt written policies and procedures for third-party distributions until October
2017, eight months after Hannan was terminated, and the Compliance Officer did not begin
monitoring compliance with HIM’s third-party distribution log and procedures until December
2017. (1d. 9 49.)

The absence of any HIM written policies or procedures for monitoring the disbursement
of funds from client accounts to third parties was unreasonable. (Ex. A, Division Expert Report
at 24.) Moreover, the informal policies that HIM created in June 2016 were inadequate because
they were not clearly defined, the staff were not provided with adequate training, and there was
no mechanism to ensure that the policies and procedures were being complied with. (/d.)

VI.  Horter and HIM Failed Reasonably to Implement Supervisory Policies and
Procedures.

Horter and HIM also failed reasonably to implement policies and procedures it had
adopted to prevent violations of the Advisers Act with respect to OBAs, supervisory reviews,
third-party distributions, and the due diligence review of Hannan. (Consent Order § 50.)

A. Outside Business Activities

HIM’s only policy regarding OBAs was in the firm’s April 1, 2016 Policies and
Procedures Manual, which required that “any business other than an IAR’s HIM advisory
business[]” (1) be reported; (2) be described in a submission by the IAR on a form provided by
HIM; (3) receive prior approval from firm management; and (4) receive sign-off from the Chief
Compliance Officer (“CCO”). HIM’s OBA policies and procedures also required that (a) firm
management and the CCO consider whether a proposed OBA may be viewed by clients,

customers, or the public as being part of HIM’s advisory business and (b) the firm determine
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whether any conditions or limitations should be placed on a proposed OBA, including
prohibiting such activity. (Id. 9§ 52.)

Notwithstanding the requirement in HIM’s policy that IARs get prior approval from
management for OBAs and signoff from the CCO, Horter and HIM allowed Hannan to operate
HR Resources as an OBA without either. HIM failed to adhere to the requirement in its policy
that Hannan submit written notice describing HR Resources as a proposed OBA. Most
significantly, though, neither Horter nor HIM followed firm procedures which required them to
consider: (1) whether HR Resources might be viewed by clients, customers, or the public as
being part of HIM’s investment advisory business; and (2) whether such OBA should be
restricted or prohibited. (/d. 9 55.) HIM’s and Horter’s failure to take action to determine how
Hannan planned to take to raise money for HR Resources, including whether he intended to
solicit money from HIM clients, was unreasonable. (Ex. A, Division Expert Report, at 25.)

B. Supervisory Review

HIM’s policies and procedures provided for supervisory reviews and sanctions for
violations of the firm’s policies in order to “monitor and ensure the firm’s supervision policy is
observed, implemented properly and amended or updated as appropriate.” Nevertheless, HIM
had no formal supervisory review process and the firm has no records that Horter or HIM
conducted any supervisory reviews of Hannan. (Consent Order 4 57-58.)

C. Third-Party Distribution Request Log and Distribution Procedures

As noted above, in June 2016, after HIM learned that it processed the distribution of more
than $300,000 from a client’s account to a third party based on a fraudulent email, HIM began
requiring that third-party distributions be verbally confirmed with the client and documented in a

third-party distribution log. (/d. 9 59.) On June 1, 2016, the Compliance Officer sent an email to
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HIM executives in which he explained that “[d]istributions to third parties are the highest risk
transaction that our organization faces[]” and that requests for third-party distributions “should
never be executed unless verbally confirmed by the client. . . . There will be no exceptions to this
requirement.” (1d. 4 60.)

However, on at least one occasion, HIM processed a third-party distribution request from
one of HIM clients to Hannan’s OBA without speaking to the client as required and may have
done so on other occasions. HIM also failed to log at least half a dozen third-party distributions
from HIM clients to Hannan Properties as required. (Id. 9 61-62.)

Moreover, the third-party distribution log was intended to be something HIM could audit
each month as part of its compliance program; however, no one in HIM’s compliance
department reviewed the log from its implementation in June 2016 until March 2017. (Id. 4 63.)
Similarly, despite acknowledging HIM began the third-party distribution log “to be able to better
watch over third-party distributions[,]” Horter never reviewed or monitored the log, did nothing
to ensure the compliance department reviewed or monitored the log, and did not even know
where it was kept. Moreover, Horter himself acknowledged that had he reviewed the log, which
contained only about 50 entries between June 2016 and March 2017, he would have seen the half
dozen distributions from HIM clients to Hannan Properties. (/d. q 64.)

The HIM employee responsible for processing third-party distributions was never
instructed to watch for any particular types of distributions, such as distributions to an IAR from
his or her clients, nor did HIM have any procedures for compliance to be notified of any third-
party distributions from a client to an IAR. At no time did HIM inquire of its clients why they

were transferring funds to a third party, whether the third-party transferee offered them anything
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in return, or if the transferee made any promises to them, even if the transferee was their IAR.
(Id. 99 65-66.)

D. Onboarding of Hannan

Although HIM’s onboardings of IARs, including due diligence review, typically took 30-
45 days, Hannan’s onboarding only took 7 days and was one of the fastest onboardings at HIM.
(Consent Order 9 67-68.)

After learning of FINRA’s inquiry regarding Hannan, the Compliance Officer suggested
to Horter that Hannan may have tried to rush through his onboarding before any disclosures were
added to his public disclosure report. (/d. § 69.) After the Compliance Officer reviewed an
updated IAPD public disclosure report for Hannan, he believed Hannan failed the HIM due
diligence process and recommended to Horter that he terminate Hannan. As described above,
Horter rejected the recommendation and instead directed the Compliance Officer to get Hannan’s
explanation of his departure from his prior firm, which Horter accepted without question or any
further inquiry. Horter, who is the only person at HIM who could authorize hiring IARs who
failed to meet the firm’s due diligence standards, made the decision to retain Hannan. (/d. 99 70-
72.)

HIM’s and Horter’s failure to investigate the subject of the FINRA inquiry, which
concerned Hannan’s conduct at his prior firm, or take steps to determine whether or not Hannan
would continue those same activities, through HIM, was unreasonable. (Ex. A, Division Expert
Report at 24.)

VII. Horter and HIM Failed to Reasonably Respond to Red Flags Regarding Hannan.

Horter and HIM failed reasonably to follow up on multiple red flags. As described above,

Horter and HIM received notification of the FINRA inquiry of Hannan days after Hannan began
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at HIM. The Compliance Officer specifically warned Horter that Hannan may have tried to
conceal what happened at his prior IAR and retrieved a new IAPD public disclosure report for
Hannan, which, according to the Compliance Officer, looked different than the one HIM had
reviewed as a part of its due diligence of Hannan. Based on the updated report, the Compliance
Officer concluded that Hannan failed HIM’s due diligence and recommended to Horter that
Hannan be terminated. Horter rejected the Compliance Officer’s recommendation, choosing
instead to accept Hannan’s self-serving explanation with no further inquiry or follow-up.
(Consent Order 49 74-75.)

Horter and HIM ignored another red flag by failing reasonably to monitor Hannan, whom
the firm had designated a high-risk adviser. As described above, despite designating Hannan a
high-risk adviser, neither Horter nor HIM imposed any restrictions, required any heightened
supervision, or did anything to ensure Hannan was monitored more closely than IARs not
determined to be high-risk. (/d. 4 76.)

HIM failed reasonably to follow up on the red flags raised by each of the 17 distribution
requests submitted by Hannan for distributions by his clients to his OBA, Hannan Properties.
HIM received, processed, and executed those distribution requests, but did nothing beyond
confirming the distribution with the client; HIM never inquired or investigated why clients were
distributing hundreds of thousands of dollars to their IAR’s outside business. Neither Horter nor
HIM followed up even when half a dozen of those distributions were logged and purportedly

subject to supervisory review. (/d. § 77.) HIM’s failure to follow up is particularly notable given
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that Hannan and Hannan Properties are prominently listed on each applicable log entry:

Horter Investm. ... Management
Client Distribution Request Log
Third Party Distributions
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(See Decl. Ex. 3, Excerpt of HIM Client Distribution Request Log at SEC-InvTestimony-
000235-Long, attached to Declaration of Nicholas Magina filed contemporaneously herewith.)

Finally, Horter and HIM knew Hannan was aggressively attempting to raise money for
HR Resources from sources other than Horter — Hannan had specifically told him — but neither
did anything to more closely supervise Hannan or investigate whether he might be soliciting
HIM clients for funds for his OBA, which he was. (Consent Order 9 78.)

With each of these red flags, Horter and HIM failed reasonably to investigate in order to
detect and prevent violations of the federal securities laws. To the contrary, Horter and HIM
ignored indications of wrongdoing or the significant potential for wrongdoing, thereby allowing
Hannan’s misconduct to continue. (/d. 4 79.)

Based on the foregoing facts, the Division’s expert witness concluded that neither HIM
nor Horter “established reasonable compliance and supervisory systems or reasonably carried out
the compliance and supervisory systems that they did have in supervising Hanann.” (Ex. A.,
Division Expert Report, at 25.)

ARGUMENT
In the November 3, 2022 Consent Order, the Commission sanctioned HIM by ordering it

to cease and desist from committing or causing any violation and any future violation of Section
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206(4) of the Advisers Act and Rule 206(4)-7 promulgated thereunder. (Consent Order at 13).
The Division now requests that the Hearing Officer impose the additional sanctions by ordering
HIM and Horter to pay civil penalties of $250,000 and $125,000, respectively, and barring
Horter from association in a supervisory capacity with a right to reapply after a period of two
years, and censuring HIM.!

To assess whether sanctions are in the public interest, the Commission considers, among
other things: “the egregiousness of the [respondent’s] actions, the isolated or recurrent nature of
the infraction, the degree of scienter involved, the sincerity of the [respondent’s] assurances
against Future violations, the [respondent’s] recognition of the wrongful nature of his conduct,
and the likelihood that the [respondent’s] occupation will present opportunities for future
violations.” Schield Management Co., Rel. No. 34-53201, 2006 SEC LEXIS 195, at *22-23 (Jan.
31, 2006). The Commission also considers “'the extent to which the sanction will have a
deterrent effect.” Id. The inquiry “into the appropriate sanction to protect the public interest is a
flexible one, and no one factor is dispositive.” Conrad P. Seghers, Rel. No. [A-2656, 2007 SEC
LEXIS 2238, at *13 (Sept. 26, 2007), aff'd, 548 F.3d 129 (D.C. Cir. 2008).

The Commission has consistently held that “failures to supervise cases are serious
violations” because “[s]upervisors are the first line of defense against wrongdoing by their
subordinates.” Brown, Collins, Walsh, & Wells, Rel. No. 34-66752, 2012 SEC LEXIS 1127, at
*6 (April 5, 2012). HIM’s and Horter’s failures to reasonably supervise Hannan from
committing securities fraud were egregious, recurrent, and occurred over a period of 17 months.

As stated above, HIM and Horter ignored or failed to reasonably address numerous red flags

! There is no dispute that HIM is a register investment advisory, Horter was an officer of HIM, they failed
reasonably to supervise, within the meaning of Section 203(e)(6) and (f) of the Advisers Act, and HIM willfully
violated Section 206(4) of the Advisers Act and Rule 206(4)-7 thereunder. (Consent Order 9 5-6, 85-86.)
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regarding Hannan’s misconduct. While scienter is not a requirement of a failure to supervise
charge, the red flags that repeatedly came to HIM’s and Horter’s attention over this period
indicate that HIM and Horter had a high-degree of knowledge or, at a minimum, were extremely
reckless. To date, neither HIM nor Horter have offered any assurances against future violations,
and continue to vigorously deny any wrongdoing. Moreover, sanctioning HIM and Horter for
their supervisory failures will have a strong deterrent effect by signaling to the industry that
registered investment advisers and supervisors cannot shirk their supervisory responsibilities by
attempting to lay the blame with employees and the wrongdoers. Finally, it would also be in the
public interest to sanction HIM for its willful failure to adopt and implement a myriad of polies
and procedures, including reasonable third-party distribution procures that would have prevented
Hannan’s misconduct. Accordingly, significant sanctions are appropriate and in the public
interest.

A. Substantial Civil Penalties Are Appropriate for HIM and Horter.

Section 203(1) of the Advisers Act authorizes the Commission to impose civil monetary
penalties if the Commission finds that such person or entity has failed reasonably to supervise
another person who commits a violation of the federal securities laws if such other person is
subject to their supervision. 15 U.S.C. § 80(b)-3(i)(1)(A)(iv). For penalties in the “Third Tier,”
Advisers Act Section 203(i1)(2)(C), for each act or omission by a person or entity that involved
“fraud, deceit, manipulation, or deliberate or reckless disregard of a regulatory requirement,” and
also “directly or indirectly resulted in substantial losses or created a significant risk of substantial
losses to other persons or resulted in substantial pecuniary gain to the person who committed the
act omission,” the maximum penalty amount is $100,000 for a natural person and $500,000 for

an entity. 15 U.S.C. § 80(b)-3(1)(2)(C). Adjusted for inflation to the time period of the violations
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here, the maximum Third Tier penalties are $207,183 and $1,035,909, respectively. See

https://www.sec.gov/files/civil-penalties-inflation-adjustments_1.pdf. Advisors Act Section

203(1)(3) also states that, in determining whether civil penalties are in the public interest, the
Commission may consider: (a) fraud; (b) harm to others; (c¢) unjust enrichment (taking into
account restitution paid); (d) previous violations; (e) deterrence; and (f) such other matters as
justice may require. 15 U.S.C. § 80(b)-3(1)(3).

The Division submits that civil penalties of $250,000 and $125,000 for HIM and Horter,
respectively, are in the public interest under the circumstances here.

First, it is undisputed that, while supervised by HIM and Horter, Hannan committed
federal securities fraud, in violation of Section 206(1) and (2) of the Advisers Act, for 17 months
by misappropriating money from HIM clients through third-party distributions approved,
processed, and executed by HIM. (Consent Order 44 27-35.) Third Tier penalties are therefore
warranted against HIM and Horter because their supervisory lapses “involved fraud,” which the
Commission interprets as meaning “allowed and were responsible, in part, for the success and
duration of a registered representative’s fraudulent misconduct.” George J. Kolar, Rel. No. 34-
46127, 2002 SEC LEXIS 3420, at *23 (June 26, 2002). HIM’s and Horter’s conduct also
involved “reckless disregard of a regulatory requirement,” as required for a Third Tier penalty.

Moreover, while HIM’s and Horter’s failure reasonably to supervise Hannan was very
serious and involved fraud, it was also repeated and occurred over a year and a half, while HIM
and Horter ignored numerous red flags alerting them to the problem. For example, HIM and
Horter ignored the following red flags:

o Onboarding. While HIM and Horter received notification of Hannan’s FINRA

inquiry days after Hannan began at HIM and the Compliance Officer
recommended to Horter that Hannan be terminated, Horter instead accepted
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Hannan’s self-serving explanation with no further inquiry or follow-up (Consent
Order 9 74-75);

o High-Risk Adviser. HIM designated Hannan as high risk, but neither HIM nor
Horter imposed any restrictions, required any heightened supervision, or did
anything to ensure Hannan was monitored more closely than IARs not determined
to be high-risk — even though HIM was warned by Examination staff and an outside
consultant about the need to develop an effective compliance program and to
establish necessary supervisory policies and procedures (id. | 76);

o HIM Approved 17 Distributions to Hannan Properties. HIM received,
processed, and executed each of the 17 distribution requests submitted by Hannan
for distributions by his HIM clients to his OBA, Hannan Properties, but did
nothing beyond confirming the distribution with the client; HIM never inquired or
investigated why clients were distributing hundreds of thousands of dollars to
their IAR’s outside business and neither Horter nor HIM followed up even when
half a dozen of those distributions were logged and purportedly subject to
supervisory review (id. 4 77); and

o HIM and Horter Knew Hannan Was Aggressively Seeking Investors for HR
Resources. HIM and Horter knew Hannan was aggressively attempting to raise
money for HR Resources from sources other than Horter, but neither did anything

to more closely supervise Hannan nor investigate whether he might be soliciting
HIM clients for funds for his OBA, which he was (id. § 78).

Second, HIM’s and Horter’s failure to reasonably supervise Hannan resulted not just in
the risk of substantial losses but in actual, substantial losses to HIM clients. It is undisputed that
HIM processed and approved 17 third-party distributions from HIM clients to Hannan
Properties, resulting in HIM client losses of $728,001. (Consent Order 9 20.) If HIM had
established and implemented policies and procedures to “safeguard client assets from conversion
or inappropriate use by advisory personnel” — one of the areas the Commission has identified, at
a minimum, should be addressed in an investment advisory firm’s written policies and
procedures — none of this would have occurred. See Final Rule: Compliance Programs of
Investment Companies and Investment Advisers, Investment Act Release No. 2204, February 5,

2004, available at https://www.sec.gov/rules/final/ia-2204.htm.
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Third, while neither HIM nor Horter were unjustly enriched by Hannan’s fraud or their
failures to reasonably supervise him, they have not reimbursed HIM clients in full for the 17
third-party distributions to Hannan Properties that HIM processed and approved. Three HIM
clients requested the 17 distributions in this case, for a total of $728,001. (See Chart of HIM
Client Distributions to Hannan Properties, Exhibit 1 to Declaration of Nicholas Magina filed
contemporaneously herewith.) HIM has only paid these clients $360,000 — less than 50% of their
losses from HIM’s approving and processing distributions to facilitate Hannan’s fraud.? (Id.)

Finally, substantial civil penalties would send a strong deterrent to investment advisers
regarding the need for firms and executives in HIM’s and Horter’s position to appropriately
supervise employees.

Based on their failure to reasonably supervise Hannan from committing fraud, the
Division seeks civil penalties of $250,000 and $125,000 against HIM and Horter, respectively.
See Angelica Aguilera, Rel. No. ID-501, 2013 SEC LEXIS 2195, at *72 (July 31, 2013)
(imposing $150,000 Third Tier penalty for failure to supervise, but waived due to inability to
pay); see also Charles L. Rizzo & Gina M. Hornbogen, Rel. No. 34-67479, 2012 SEC LEXIS
2299, at *25 (July 20, 2012) (investment adviser principal agreed to pay civil penalty of
$130,000 for failure to supervise; civil penalty of other principal reduced in light of financial
condition); WestEnd Capital Management, LLC, Rel. No. TA-3919, 2014 WL 4630277, at *7
(Sept. 17, 2014) (investment adviser agreed to pay $150,000 civil penalty for failure to supervise
employee who misappropriated $320,000 from fund); H.D. Vest Investment Securities, Inc., Rel.

No. 34-74429, 2015 SEC LEXIS 860, at *19 (Mar. 4, 2015) (broker-dealer agreed to pay

2 HIM has paid another client $380,500 to settle a lawsuit arising out the Hannan fraud. But none of the payments
made by that client to Hannan were routed through HIM or approved and processed through HIM’s third-party
distribution system. (Declaration of Nicholas Magina 9§ 9, filed contemporaneously herewith.)
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$225,000 civil penalty for failure to supervise registered representative who misappropriated
$300,000 from brokerage customers).

B. Two-Year Supervisory Bar is Appropriate for Horter.

Section 203(f) of the Advisers Act empowers the Commission to sanction any person
associated with an investment adviser, if the person has failed reasonably to supervise, with a
view to preventing violations of the federal securities laws, another who commits such a
violation, if such other person is subject to his supervision. 15 U.S.C. § 80b-3(f). To assess
whether a bar is in the public interest, the Commission considers, among other things: “the
egregiousness of the [respondent’s] actions, the isolated or recurrent nature of the infraction, the
degree of scienter involved, the sincerity of the [respondent’s] assurances against Future
violations, the [respondent’s] recognition of the wrongful nature of his conduct, and the
likelihood that the [respondent’s] occupation will present opportunities for future violations,” as
well as the “deterrent effect.” Schield Management Co., 2006 SEC LEXIS 195, at *22-23

Horter should be barred from association in a supervisory capacity with the right to
reapply for association after two years. As described above, Horter’s egregious failure to
reasonably supervise Hannan, which resulted in fraud and substantial losses to HIM clients, the
repeated and prolonged nature of Horter’s supervisory failures, and the need to deter others,
warrants a two-year supervisory bar for Horter. See supra at 20-21.

Moreover, while scienter is not a requirement of a failure to supervise charge, Horter’s
knowledge of numerous red flags indicate that he has a high-degree of knowledge or, at a
minimum, was extremely reckless. For example, Horter overrode his Compliance Officer’s
suggestion to terminate Hannan due to the FINRA inquiry and due diligence failures, and

accepted Hannan’s self-serving explanation without any investigation. (Consent Order § 16.) As
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Hannan’s supervisor, Horter should have known that HIM designated Hannan as high risk, yet
Horter took no steps to ensure that any heightened supervision occurred. (/d. 9 17.) Indeed,
Horter could not even remember anything he did to oversee his delegation of Hannan’s
supervisory responsibility to HIM’s compliance department. (/d. § 84.) Such derelict delegation
of supervisory responsibilities is unreasonable under prevailing industry norms and should not be
sanctioned. (Ex. A, Division Expert Report, at 25.) See Rita H. Malm & Robert W. Berg, Rel.
No. 34-35000, 1994 SEC LEXIS 3679, at *23 (Nov. 23, 1994) (“[1]t is not sufficient for the
person with overarching supervisory responsibilities to delegate supervisory responsibility to a
subordinate, even a capable one, and then simply wash his hands of the matter until a problem is
brought to his attention. . . . Implicit is the additional duty to follow-up and review that delegated
authority to ensure that it is being properly exercised.”). Finally, Horter knew that Hannan was
actively soliciting investors in HR Resources and yet did nothing to investigate whether Hannan
was soliciting HIM clients, which he was. (Consent Order 99 22-23; Decl. Ex. 4, Mar. 23, 2017
Email from K. Hannan to D. Horter, ef al., HORTER-SEC052338, attached to the Declaration of
Nicholas Magina, filed contemporaneously herewith.)

Finally, Horter has not accepted the wrongful nature of his conduct. He fought this
administrative proceeding for over a year and has sought to lay blame on everyone but himself,
including the employee who logged the third-party distribution requests, was never trained to
detect fraud or recognize improper transfers from clients to IARS, and was supervised by
nothing more than what amounted to a rubber-stamping process. (Ex. B, Expert Rebuttal Report
of David E. Paulukaitis, at 4-5, 16-17 (July 15, 2022).) While it appears that HIM may have
already taken steps to remove Horter from his supervisory role and compliance-related duties

(Decl. Ex. 5, May 25, 2022 Horter Deposition Transcript at 29:13-20; 30:10-31:2, attached to the
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Declaration of Nicholas Magina filed contemporaneously herewith), without a supervisory bar
HIM will be able to reverse such restructuring at any time and reinstate Horter has a primary
supervisor of [ARs.

Accordingly, it is in the public interest to bar Horter from supervisory association the
right to reapply after two years. See Aguilera, 2013 SEC LEXIS 2195, at *72 (investment adviser
President who failed to supervise two IARs who engaged in markup and markdown scheme
barred from association in supervisory capacity with broker or dealer); Charles L. Rizzo, 2012
SEC LEXIS 2299, at *24 (investment adviser principals who failed to supervise IAR who
misappropriate client funds agreed to permanent supervisory bars); Advanced Prac. Advisors,
LLC & Paul C. Spitzer, Rel. No. IA-5670, 2021 SEC LEXIS 92, at *13 (Jan. 14, 2021) (founder
and CEO of investment adviser who failed to supervise IAR, follow up on red flags, and
overrode termination recommended by CCO agreed to permanent supervisory bar); James T.
Budden & Alexander W. Budden, Rel. No. 1A-4225, 2015 SEC LEXIS 4231, at *15 (Oct. 13,
2015) (President and VP of investment adviser who failed to supervise CCO and provided no
funding, training or resources to support COO role agreed to 3- and 2-year supervisory bars,
respectively).

C. Censure is Appropriate for HIM.

Section 203(e) and (f) of the Advisers Act authorizes the Commission to censure any
investment adviser, if it finds that such censure is in the public interest and the investment
advisor willfully violated the Advisers Act. 15 U.S.C. § 80b-3(e), (f). It is undisputed here at
HIM willfully violated Section 206(4) of the Advisers Acts and Rule 206(4)-7 thereunder by

failing to adopt and implement policies and procedures reasonably designed to prevent
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violations, by HIM and its supervised persons, of the Advisers Act and the Commissions’ rules.
(Consent Order 9] 86.)

In light of HIM’s willful failure to adopt and implement policies and procedures
reasonably designed to prevent Advisers Act violations, a censure is in the public interest. It is
undisputed that HIM failed reasonably to establish policies and procedures designed (a) to
prevent the misappropriation of client funds by IARS through third-party distribution request, (b)
provide heightened supervision to high-risk IARs, and (c) remote IARs and field visits. (Consent
Order 99 38-50.) Similarly, it is undisputed that HIM failed reasonably to implement supervisory
policies and procedures concerning third-party distributions, IAR onboarding, IAR outside
business activities, and supervisory reviews (id. 9 51-72), or to follow up on numerous red flags
(id. 99 73-79.) These failures occurred over a 17-month period and some even occurred after
HIM was directed to develop and implement these policies and procedures by an independent
consultant and Commission staff. (/d. 99 39-45.) Accordingly, HIM did not establish reasonable
compliance and supervisory systems or reasonably carry out the compliance and supervisory
systems that they did have in supervising Hanann.” (Ex. A., Division Expert Report, at 25.)
Under these circumstances, a censure of HIM is in the public interest. H.D. Vest Investment
Securities, Inc., 2015 SEC LEXIS 860, at *19 (broker-dealer agreed to censure for failing to
supervise registered representative who misappropriated $300,000 from brokerage customers).

CONCLUSION

In sum, HIM and Horter failed reasonably to supervise Hannan, within the meaning of
Section 203(e)(6) and (f) of the Advisers Act, and HIM willfully violated Section 206(4) of the
Advisers Act, and Rule 206(4)-7 thereunder, by failing to adopt and implement policies and

procedures reasonably designed to prevent Advisers Act violations, and their egregious conduct
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readily establishes that the sanctions requested by the Division are in the public interest.
Accordingly, the Division respectfully requests that its motion be granted and that the Court (a)
impose civil penalties of $250,000 and $125,000 against HIM and Horter, respectively, (b) bar
Horter from association in a supervisory capacity with any broker, dealer, investment adviser,
municipal securities dealer, municipal advisor, transfer agent, or nationally recognized statistical
rating organization, with the right to reapply after a period of two years, and (c¢) censure HIM.

Dated: January 9, 2023 Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Alyssa A. Qualls
Alyssa A. Qualls
Charles J. Kerstetter
Jonathan A. Epstein
Andrew O’Brien
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
175 West Jackson Boulevard, Suite 1450
Chicago, Illinois 60604
(312) 353-7390
quallsa@sec.gov

Attorneys for the Division of Enforcement
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Expert Report - June 17, 2022
In the Matter of Horter Investment Management LLC
and Drew K. Horter

My name is David E. Paulukaitis and I am a Managing Director with
Mainstay Capital Markets Consultants, Inc. (“Mainstay”), located at 6600
Peachtree Dunwoody Road, Building 600, Suite 575, Atlanta, Georgia, 30328. 1
have been retained by the Division of Enforcement of the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission (the “Division”) to provide expert testimony in
conjunction with the administrative proceeding initiated by the Division against
Horter Investment Management, LLC (“HIM") and Drew K. Horter (“Horter”).

Summary of Retention

On September 8, 2021, the Division filed an Order Instituting Administrative
and Cease and Desist Proceedings (the “Order”) against HIM and Horter alleging
that they violated Section 206(4) of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 (the
“Advisers Act”) and Rule 206(4)-7 thereunder as a result of failing reasonably to
supervise the activities of a former HIM investment adviser representative
named Kimm Hannan ("Hannan”). Hannan, who was associated with HIM
from December 2014 until April 2017, was criminally convicted of theft and
securities-related fraud for stealing $1.6 million from a number of individuals,
including more than $700,000 from his HIM clients. He was sentenced to 20
years in prison and is currently incarcerated.

I have been retained by the Division in this matter to offer opinions
regarding the supervisory obligations of HIM and Horter, the adequacy and
reasonableness of HIM's compliance and supervisory systems, and whether
those compliance and supervisory systems were reasonably carried out relating
to the supervision of Hannan’s activities.

Qualifications

Mainstay provides compliance consulting services to securities broker-
dealers and registered investment advisers. In my capacity with Mainstay, I
provide a variety of consulting services focusing on regulatory compliance in the
areas of supervision, supervisory controls, and internal compliance systems. I
additionally provide consulting services regarding a variety of other areas such
as research, investment banking, anti-money laundering (“AML"), general sales
practices, and responding to regulatory inquiries, investigations, and
enforcement proceedings. The services that I provide are intended to assist
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broker-dealers and registered investment advisers in understanding and
complying with the rules and regulations promulgated by the SEC and the
Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (“FINRA”).!

In addition to providing compliance consulting services to broker-dealers
and registered investment advisers, I have provided consulting services to state
securities regulatory authorities and the SEC in support of their investigative and
enforcement programs. I have also served as an independent consultant in
conducting compliance undertakings mandated under regulatory enforcement
proceedings against broker-dealers initiated by the SEC, FINRA, and state
regulatory organizations.

Aside from the consulting services that I provide, I am frequently retained
as an expert witness in securities arbitrations and litigation. I have also served as
an expert witness in conjunction with various regulatory administrative
proceedings, both on behalf of regulatory agencies and on behalf of Respondents.
I have testified in arbitration hearings, in court proceedings, and in
administrative proceedings approximately 200 times.

In addition to my role with Mainstay, I am a Managing Member and co-
owner of Advisory Services Network, LLC (“ASN”). ASN, which is an affiliate
of Mainstay, is an SEC-registered investment advisory firm established in 2009
that provides investment advisory services to investors through a network of
independent investment adviser representatives (“[ARs”) located across the
United States. ASN’s IARs currently manage more than $5 billion in client
assets.?

As a Managing Member of ASN, I am responsible for risk management,
including monitoring transactions in client accounts, monitoring the movement
of funds and securities into and out of client accounts, and identifying and
addressing potential conflicts of interest. I work closely with ASN’s Chief

U FINRA is a “self-regulatory organization” responsible for regulating the activities of
securities brokerage firms and their representatives. FINRA's activities are overseen by

the SEC.

2 Tam individually registered as an investment adviser representative (Series 65)
through ASN. My Investment Adviser Registration Depository (“IARD”) number is
729689.
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Compliance Officer and with the other co-owner of ASN in managing the
activities of ASN on a daily basis.

A copy of my curriculum vitae is attached as Exhibit 1.

Prior to my association with Mainstay and ASN, I was employed for 23
years with the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. (“NASD”), the
predecessor of FINRA.® Like FINRA, NASD was responsible for regulating the
activities of broker-dealers. As more fully described in Exhibit 2, T was employed
as an Examiner, a Supervisor of Examiners, and an Associate District Director in
NASD’s Atlanta District Office and was directly involved in reviewing the
compliance of broker-dealers and their registered representatives with applicable
securities industry rules and regulations.

During my NASD career I testified as a staff witness in numerous
disciplinary hearings. Those matters dealt with a wide variety of regulatory
compliance issues, most of which centered on sales practices and supervision.
Those matters involving supervision included testifying regarding the adequacy
of supervisory systems and procedures and the adequacy of specific supervisory
functions performed.

My services in this matter are being billed at $325 per hour, which is my
standard billing rate for expert witness services. The opinions expressed in this
report are my own and my services are billed regardless of the outcome of this
matter.

Information and Documents Reviewed

In conjunction with my engagement in this matter I have reviewed the
following documents:

- A copy of the Order Instituting Administrative and Cease and Desist
Proceedings regarding HIM and Horter filed by the division on
September 8, 2021;

3 FINRA was established in mid-2007 through the combination of NASD and NYSE
Regulation, Inc. (the regulatory arm of the New York Stock Exchange).
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- A copy of the Answer and Affirmative Defenses filed by HIM and Horter
on October 6, 2021;

- The transcript of the investigative testimony taken of Hannan by the
Ohio Division of Securities on September 27, 2017;

- A copy of the transcript of the deposition of Hannan taken on May 22,
2019 in conjunction with a civil proceeding, Buddy Scott, et al. v. Horter
Investment Management, LLC;

- A copy of the transcript of the investigative testimony taken of Horter
by the Ohio Division of Securities on October 20, 2017;

- A copy of the transcript of the deposition of Horter dated May 6, 2019
in conjunction with the Scott v. Horter Investment Management, LLC civil
proceeding;

- Copies of the transcripts (and exhibits) of the investigative testimony
of Horter taken by the Division on March 4 and 5, 2021;

- A copy of the transcript (and exhibits) of the deposition of Horter
taken by the Division on May 25, 2022;

- A copy of the transcript of the deposition of Jason Long (“Long”) on
May 6, 2019 in conjunction with the Scott v. Horter Investment
Management, LLC civil proceeding;

- Copies of the transcripts (and exhibits) of the investigative testimony
of Jason Long taken by the Division on January 21 and 22, 2021;

- A copy of the transcript (and exhibits) of the investigative testimony of
Jessica Vierling taken by the Division on March 18, 2021;

- A copy of the transcript of the deposition of Vierling taken by Horter’s
counsel on March 29, 2022;

- A copy of the transcript (and exhibits) of the deposition of Kevin
Hetzer taken by the Division on February 9, 2022;

- A copy of the Uniform Termination Notice for Securities industry
Registration (“"Form U5”) filed by LPL Financial, LLC on behalf of
Hannan Termination of Registration dated November 14, 2014;

- A copy of the Investment Adviser Representative Public Disclosure
Report for Hannan dated November 21, 2014 (HORTER-SEC000558-
000566);

- A copy of the Uniform Application for Securities Industry Registration
{("Form U4”) filed by HIM on behalf of Hannan dated December 1,
2014 (HORTER-SEC000733-000752);

-~ A copy of the Prospective New Advisor Scorecard prepared when
Hannan joined HIM (HORTER-SEC000522);
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- A copy of the Form U5 filed by HIM on behalf of Hannan dated April
3, 2017 (SEC-InvTestimony-000097_Long-000103_Long);

- A copy of the RIA Compliance Program Review Report prepared by
Opyster Consulting, LLC on behalf of HIM dated March 26, 2015
(HORTER-SEC091166-091176);

- Copies of HIM's Client Distribution Request Logs prepared by HIM
between June 2016 and January 2018 (SEC-InvTestimony-
000220_Long-000238_Long);

- Copies of the Distribution Requests initiated by Hannan (HORTER-
SEC055462, HORTER-SEC042936, HORTER-SEC042937, HORTER-
SEC042938, HORTER-SEC051406, HORTER-SEC048594, HORTER-
SEC054877, HEINZMAN_001913, HORTER-SEC044920, HORTER-
SEC045993, HORTER-SEC027940, HORTER-SEC030103, HORTER-
SEC068429 HORTER-SEC067856, HORTER-SECexam000702,
HORTER-5EC076962, HORTER-SECexam000902, HORTER-
SECexam000905);

- Copies of internal HIM e-mail messages relating to the disbursement
of funds from the accounts of various clients of Hannan (HORTER-
SEC055579, HORTER-SEC055576, HORTER-SEC044915, HORTER-
SEC027939, HORTER-SEC072451, HORTER-SEC047614, HORTER-
SECexam000857, HORTER-SEC075020, HORTER-SEC074507,
HORTER-SEC075862, HORTER-SEC079766);

- Copies of HIM's Policies and Procedures Manuals dated May 1, 2015
(HORTER-SEC044968-045035), April 1, 2016 (HORTER-SEC045074-
045139), and November 10, 2016 (HORTER-SEC045217-045282);

- Copies of HIM's Prospective Advisor Due Diligence Procedures dated
September 20, 2014 (HORTER-SEC019665-019666), January 16, 2017
(HORTER-SEC-2018exam{00252-000254), and November 30, 2017
(HORTER-SEC-2019exam-000255-000257);

- Copies of HIM's New IAR Onboarding Procedures dated August 14, 2014
(HORTER-SEC-2018exam-000577-000579), February 11, 2015
(HORTER-SEC019525-019528), March 5, 2015 (HORTER-SEC019507-
019508), and November 30, 2017 (HORTER-SEC-2018exam-000594);
and

- October 14, 2020 e-mail message from counsel for Horter and HIM,
Matthew Fornshell, to SEC counsel Jonathan Epstein (SEC-SECCORR-
E-0003254-0003255.



Expert Report June 17, 2022
In the Matter of Horter Investment Management LLC
and Drew K. Horter

Relevant Background Information

The criminal charges brought against Hannan related primarily to his
solicitation of individuals to invest monies into business ventures in which he
was personally involved. Rather than use those funds as he represented,
Hannan used them to pay personal expenses, gamble, and to repay other
investors. More than $700,000 of the approximately $1.6 million of investment
funds that Hannan obtained were distributed directly from accounts of clients
Hannan serviced through HIM. He obtained those funds between 2015 and 2017
by having clients sign Distribution Request forms that instructed HIM and its
custodian to wire funds to an entity Hannan personally controlled called Hannan
Properties, LLC (“Hannan Properties”). Horter was aware of the existence of
Hannan Properties at the time Hannan joined HIM.*

Summary of Opinions

Based upon the information and evidence that I have thus far been
provided, I do not believe that Horter or HIM established reasonable compliance
and supervisory systems or reasonably carried out the compliance and
supervisory systems that they did have in supervising Hannan. I reached that
broad opinion based on what I believe to be a variety of underlying supervisory
failures by Horter and HIM, including:

- While Horter and HIM created written compliance policies and
procedures as required by Rule 206(4)-7 of the Advisers Act, nothing in
those written policies and procedures was designed to prevent adviser
representatives like Hannan from gaining access to or misusing client
funds. As a result, I believe HIM's written policies and procedures
were inadequate.

In mid-2016, HIM created a Disbursement Log on which were recorded
certain disbursements from client accounts payable to third-parties.

+ Hannan Properties was also disclosed as one of Hannan's outside business activities in
the Investment Adviser Public Disclosure ("IAPD) system at the time Hannan became
associated with HIM. HIM's records reflect that Hannan's IAPD report was reviewed in
conjunction with its consideration of registering Hannan with HIM in 2014.
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No written policies or procedures were created at that time regarding
the use or review of the Log and apparently no substantive training
was provided to the staff responsible for completing the Log. Had
entries on the Log been appropriately scrutinized and not just simply
recorded, it is likely that Hannan's conversion of client funds would
have been detected and, consequently, client funds would have been
protected.

- The supervisory obligations imposed on investment advisory firms
and their principals are aimed at detecting and preventing violations
of the Advisers Act. In that regard, the supervisory principals of
investment advisory firms are required to respond to indications of the
potential for misconduct by their adviser representatives. Horter and
HIM were presented with several indications of the potential for
misconduct by Hannan but failed to take any steps to address them.
Some of those indications of the potential for misconduct included:

o After Hannan joined HIM, HIM and Horter learned that FINRA
had initiated an inquiry into disclosures on the Uniform
Termination Notice for Securities Industry Registration (“Form
U5”) filed on behalf of Hannan by the firm with which he was
most recently associated, LPL Financial, LLC (“LPL"). Those
disclosures included allegations that Horter had used marketing
materials not approved by LPL and that Hannan had deposited
certain checks from clients into the bank account of his “dba”
entity® rather than to the investment advisory firm with which
he was associated. Prior to learning of the FINRA inquiry,
neither HIM nor Horter had reviewed Hannan’s LPL Form U5.

While Hannan was verbally asked to explain the circumstances
associated with the checks made payable to his “dba” entity, no
steps were taken by Horter or HIM to independently verify
Hannan's explanation. HIM and Horter did not, for example,
seek to obtain copies of the communications between Hannan
and FINRA. Those communications likely would have

5 In the securities industry, a “dba” (“doing business as”) entity is a legal entity through
which an independent contractor representative conducts his/her broker-dealer or
investment advisory business.
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provided more information regarding the activities that resulted
in the Form U5 disclosures and would have confirmed or
contradicted the representations Hannan verbally made to HIM.

Hannan was apparently never asked about his alleged use of
unapproved marketing materials.

By failing to inquire further into the disclosures on Hannan'’s
LPL Form U5, HIM and Horter were unable to determine
whether Hannan's activities should be subject to any
heightened supervisory scrutiny.

o When he joined HIM, Hannan disclosed to HIM and Horter that
he was involved in various business activities outside the scope
of his association with HIM. While Horter recalled that one of
those business entities was Hannan Properties, Horter never
took steps to determine the nature of the activities of Hannan
Properties or Hannan’s role with that entity. Hannan Properties
was never disclosed on the Uniform Application for Securities
Industry Registration or Transfer (“Form U4”) Hannan filed
through HIM.

Because no substantive inquiry was apparently made into
Hannan's outside business activities, HIM and Horter were
unaware of whether any of those outside activities might
conflict with Hannan's activities on behalf of HIM or might
potentially adversely affect HIM clients.

o In late 2016, Hannan disclosed to HIM and Horter that he had
created an entity called HR Resources, LLC (“"HR Resources”).
Hannan asked HIM, through Horter, to provide financing for
HR Resources. When IHorter refused to provide that financing,
Hannan responded that he would “find it elsewhere.” Neither
Horter nor HIM took steps to determine where Hannan
intended to obtain this financing for HR Resources, particularly
whether Hannan intended to obtain that financing from HIM
clients.
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- In March 2015 an independent compliance consulting firm
recommended that HIM develop detailed procedures for, among other
things, supervising the activities of adviser representatives in remote
locations and imposing heightened supervision on those adviser
representatives deemed by HIM to be higher risk. Horter and HIM
did not establish such procedures until days before his association
with HIM was terminated. And despite identifying Hannan as a
higher risk adviser representative, Horter and HIM never imposed any
heightened supervision of any kind over him. Indeed, there is
apparently no evidence that Horter or HIM supervised Hannan in any
manner.

- Horter acknowledged that he was the supervisory principal of HIM
ultimately responsible for supervising the activities of HIM and its
adviser representatives, including Hannan. While Horter testified that
he had delegated certain supervisory functions to other supervisory
principals of HIM, there is no evidence that he took any steps to ensure
that those delegated supervisory functions were reasonably and
adequately performed.

Opinions

Investment Advisers Act of 1940 and the Duty to Supervise

In relevant part, subparagraph (e)(6) of Section 203 of the Investment
Advisers Act provides that the SEC is empowered to initiate an enforcement
action against a supervisory principal of a registered investment adviser if that
person:

has failed reasonably to supervise, with a view to preventing
violations of the provisions of such statutes, rules, and
regulations, another person who commits such a violation, if
such other person is subject to his supervision. For the purposes
of this paragraph no person shall be deemed to have failed
reasonably to supervise any person, if—

(A) there have been established procedures, and a system for
applying such procedures, which would reasonably be
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expected to prevent and detect, insofar as practicable,
any such violation by such other person, and

(B) such person has reasonably discharged the duties and
obligations incumbent upon him by reason of such pro-
cedures and system without reasonable cause to believe
that such procedures and system were not being
complied with.

To facilitate compliance with Section 203, Rule 206(4)-7 of the Advisers
Act requires investment advisory firms to: “Adopt and implement written
policies and procedures reasonably designed to prevent violation, by you and
your supervised persons, of the Act and the rules that the Commission has
adopted under the Act.”

When Rule 206(4)-7 was adopted, the SEC provided the following
guidance:

Rule 206(4)-7 does not enumerate specific elements that advisers
must include in their policies and procedures. Each adviser
should adopt policies and procedures that take into
consideration the nature of that firm's operations. The policies
and procedures should be designed to prevent violations from
occurring, detect violations that have occurred, and correct
promptly any violations that have occurred.®

As the SEC explained:

Each adviser, in designing its policies and procedures, should
first identify conflicts and other compliance factors creating risk
exposure for the firm and its clients in light of the firm's
particular operations, and then design policies and procedures
that address those risks.”

6 Final Rule: Compliance Programs of Investment Companies and Investment Advisers,
SEC Release No. IA-2204, February 5, 2004.

7 Id.

10
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While not dictating the content of an investment adviser’s compliance
policies and procedures, the SEC did provide a list of areas that it believed, at a
minimum, should generally be addressed in an investment advisory firm’s
written policies and procedures. One of those areas was: “Safeguarding of client
assets from conversion or inappropriate use by advisory personnel.”$

Hannan was able to gain access to funds of HIM clients by having the
clients sign Distribution Request forms directing that funds be wired to the bank
account of Hannan Properties. As described in the SEC’s Order, prior to June
2016 HIM had no procedures in place to provide for the tracking or review of
disbursements from client accounts to the accounts of third parties.

Jason Long (“Long”) was HIM's Assistant Chief Compliance Officer when
Hannan joined HIM in late 2014 and he was subsequently designated as HIM’s
Chief Compliance Officer in April 2016. Long testified that when he joined HIM,
“third-party distributions was one of the items on my radar.”” In June 2016, after
an incident in which HIM authorized the disbursement of client funds to an
unauthorized third-party based on a fraudulent e-mail request, HIM
implemented a procedure that required a trading department employee to
verbally confirm with clients each request for a disbursement from the client’s
account when that disbursement was to be made to a third-party. Additionally,
Long helped to create a Client Distribution Reguest Log (the “Log”) on which all
third-party disbursements (and related information) were to be recorded as
evidence that those disbursements had been verified with clients.

While the verbal verification of third-party disbursements with clients and
the creation of the Log w